DIVISION II, COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WILLIAM E. WALL, ESTATE OF JAMES H. JACK by and through its Personal Representatives, SHARON A. JACK and LINDA R. LEIBICH,

Petitioners,

ν.

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON acting by and through the WASHINGTON STATE LEGISLATURE and JAMES McINTYRE, Treasurer of the State of Washington; BRIAN SONTAG, Auditor of the State of Washington; and BRAD FLAHERTY, Director of the Dept. of Revenue, State of Washington,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Frank R. Siderius
Ray Siderius
C.R. Lonergan, Jr.
SIDERIUS LONERGAN & MARTIN, LLP
500 Union Street, Suite 847
Seattle, WA 98101
206/624-2800
206/624-285 (fax)

I.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS		
II.	COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION		
III.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW		
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE5		
	A.	Factual Background	
	B.	Petitioner's Allegations7	
	C.	Decisions Below	
V.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 10		
	A.	Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review 10	
	В.	The Decision erroneously concludes that Article VII, § 5 of the Washington Constitution does not limit the Legislature's plenary power to spend 13	
	D.	The Budget Bills of 2008 and 2009 did not change the purpose or object of the Estate Tax 16	
	E.	The "state distinctly" requirement of Article VII, § 5 16	
	F.	Article II, § 19 of the Washington Constitution invalidates the purported change in purpose or "object" of the estate tax	
	G.	Article II, § 37 of the Washington Constitution is violated	
VI.	CONCLUSION		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Blakeslee v. Clausen, 85 Wash. 260, 148 Pac. 28 (1915)
Burbank Irr. Dist. No. 4 v. Douglass, 143 Wash. 385, 255 Pac. 360 (1927)
Central Puget So. Transit Authority, 155 Wn.2d 790, 804, 123 P.3d 88 (2005)
Flanders v. Morris, 88 Wn.2d 183, 558 P.2d 769 (1977) 18-20
Hemphill v. Dept. of Revenue, 153 Wn.2d 544, 105 P.2d 391 (2005) 5, 6
Inland Boatman's Union of the Pacific v. Dept. of Transportation, 119 Wn.2d 697, 710, 836 P.2d 823 (1992)
Potter v. Black, 15 Wash. 186, 45 Pac. 787
Sheehan v. Transit Authority, 155 Wn.2d 790, 804, 123 P.3d 88 (2005)
Sheldon v. Purdy, 17 Wn.App. 135, 141, 49 Pac. 228 (1897) 13, 15, 17
State of Washington on the relation of Washington Toll Bridge Authority v. Cliff Yelle, State Auditor, 54 Wn.2d 545, 342 P.2d 588 (1959)17
State, ex. rel. Board for Vocational Education v. Yelle, 199 Wash. 312, 91 P.2d 573 (1939)
The Washington State Legislature v. State of Washington, 139 Wn.2d 129, 145, 95 P.2d 353 (1999)

Washington State Farm Bureau Fed'n. v. Gregoire, 162 Wn.2d 284, 290, 174 P.3d 1142 (2007)
Statutes
Federal Rule of Appellate Procedure 32.1
RAP 13.4(b)
RCW Ch. 83.100
Other Authorities
The Georgetown Law Journal, Vol. 97
Washington State Constitution, Article II, § 37
Washington State Constitution, Article II, § 19 2, 4, 8, 9, 17, 18
Washington State Constitution Article VII & 5 2 3 5 7-17

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

This petition for review is brought by Estate of James H. Jack (the Estate) and seeks review of the decision of the Court of Appeals Division II unpublished opinion of August 26, 2015. The opinion incorrectly decides significant questions of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington and involves issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

II. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

The Estate petitions for review of the August 26, 2015 unpublished opinion (the "Decision") by Division II of the Court of Appeals. The Decision affirmed the Superior Court's dismissal of petitioner's claims. A copy of the Decision is attached as **Appendix A**.

Respondents, State of Washington, *et al.*, moved for reconsideration of the Decision despite the fact they were the prevailing party. Respondents asked the Court of Appeals to reconsider its decision in light of Respondents' arguments relating to threshold issues of standing, mootness, separation of powers, and the statute of limitations. Respondents urged that a ruling on these "threshold issues..." would render unnecessary the consideration of Appellants' constitutional claims (Respondent's Motion to Reconsider, p. 3).

The Court of Appeals denied the Motion for Reconsideration by order dated October 13, 2015. By separate order on that same date, the Court of Appeals denied Petitioner's Motion to Publish. A copy of each Order is provided at **Appendix B and Appendix C.**

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that Article VII, § 5 and Article II, § 19 of the Washington Constitution do not apply to diversion of estate tax receipts from the object of the tax (education funding) to the general fund through amendments contained in budget and appropriations legislation?

^{··&}lt;del>··

It is baffling that the Court of Appeals, Division II, would refuse to publish its opinion in a case involving a claimed unconstitutional diversion of \$67 million in estate tax revenues to the general fund. Although unpublished opinions are allowed in Washington, federal courts have wrestled with the constitutionality of such a rule. Amid vigorous debate amongst the circuits and confusion over the varying rules of each circuit, the U.S. Supreme Court adopted Federal Rule of Appellate Procedure 32.1 in 2006. The rule reads: "Rule 32.1 Citing Judicial Dispositions. (a) Citation Permitted. A court may not prohibit or restrict the citation of federal judicial opinions, orders, judgments, or other written dispositions that have been: (i) designated as 'unpublished,' 'not for publication,' 'non-precedential,' 'not precedent,' or the like; and (ii) issued on or after January 1, 2007. (b) Copies Required. If a party cites a federal judicial opinion, order, judgment, or other written disposition that is not available in a publicly accessible electronic database, the party must file and serve a copy of that opinion, order, judgment, or disposition with the brief or other paper in which it is cited." Rule 32.1 was adopted by the Advisory Committee on Federal Appellate Rules. The chair of that Committee was then Judge Alito. Adoption of the Rule is covered at length in an excellent article in The Georgetown Law Journal, Vol. 97, at p. 621 entitled, "Unpublished Opinions: a Convenient Means to an Unconstitutional End."

While it is a fundamental principle of our system of government that the Legislature has plenary powers to enact laws, such plenary power is limited by State and Federal Constitutions. *Washington State Farm Bureau Fed'n. v. Gregoire*, 162 Wn.2d 284, 290, 174 P.3d 1142 (2007). Article VII, § 5 of the Washington Constitution provides:

No tax shall be levied except in pursuance of law; and every law imposing a tax shall state distinctly the object of the same to which only it shall be applied.

This case addresses the power of the Legislature to divert tax revenues from the "object" of the estate tax (educational purposes) by transfer of \$67 million of the collected tax into the general fund through budget and appropriation legislation. The Decision of the Court of Appeals at p. 5 incorrectly holds that Article VII, § 5 of the Washington State Constitution "restricts the legislature's power to impose a tax, not the legislature's plenary power to spend." Further, the Decision at p. 6 incorrectly holds that Article VII, § 5 "applies only to legislation *establishing* taxes; it does not apply to legislation authorizing legislative spending." The Decision ignores the explicit direction of Article VII, § 5 that tax revenue shall only be applied to the object of the tax.

Article II, § 19 of the Washington Constitution provides "No bill shall embrace more than one subject, and that shall be expressed in the title."

The Decision erroneously holds that a budget and appropriations bill redirecting tax revenues from the stated legislative object to the general fund is neither violative of the subject in title rule nor is it violative of the single subject requirement of Article II, § 19. The Decision acknowledges that the amendments at issue were "part of budgeting or funding bills" and have "never been treated in a separate substantive bill." (Decision at p. 10.) The Decision also states that the "specific reference to former RCW 83.100.230 in both bills provides notice to an inquiring mind that some change related to the funds in the education legacy trust account is being made in the bills." (Decision at p. 9.) ²

The Decision raises an additional constitutional challenge. Article II, § 37 of the Washington Constitution provides: "No act shall ever be revised or amended by mere reference to its title, but the Act revised or the section amended shall be set forth at full length." A legislator's "inquiring mind"

² The "specific reference" to RCW 83.100.230 is contained within the budget bill synopsis along with numerous statutory citations. The amendment is found at § 924 of 929 sections covering approximately 300 pages. See Appendix E.

would have no notice that the object of the estate tax was being changed through these amendments.

Unless reversed, the Legislature will have unchecked power to tax and spend contrary to the checks and balances required under the Washington State Constitution.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Background. In Hemphill v. Dept. of Revenue, 153 Wn.2d 544, 105 P.2d 391 (2005), this court applied Article VII, § 5 to Washington's estate tax ruling that Washington estate taxes paid after January, 2002 were unauthorized and illegally imposed, and directing a refund of taxes paid by class members. The court referred to the estate tax scheme in Washington holding that "a new tax burden can be created only by law that states such a purpose. Constitution, article VII, § 5." Hemphill at p. 551.

In response to the *Hemphill* decision, the Legislature in 2005 enacted a stand-alone estate tax, codified as RCW Ch. 83.100. The new tax, as with all tax legislation, was required by Article VII, § 5 of the State Constitution

to "state distinctly the object" of the tax, which was declared to "provide funding for education," Laws of 2005, Ch. 516, § 1.3

The legislation was clear that all proceeds from this new estate tax "must be deposited" into the Education legacy trust account, and withdrawals from it "only for support of the common schools, and for expanding access to higher education . . . and other educational improvement efforts." RCW 83.100.220 and .230.⁴ (Emphasis supplied.)

This lawsuit became necessary because in 2008, the Legislature, toward the end of the legislative session, in an addition to budget and appropriations legislation, added the following sentence to RCW 83.100.230:

³ The Washington Legislature enacted what is now codified as RCW Ch. 83.100 entitled "Estate and Transfer Tax Act." Section 1 of this new Act read as follows: "The Legislature finds that the revenue loss resulting from the *Hemphill* decision will severely affect the Legislature's ability to fund programs vital to the peace, health, safety and support of the citizens of this state. The Legislature intends to address the adverse fiscal impact of the *Hemphill* decision and provide funding for education by creating a stand-alone state estate tax." At the same 2005 session, the Legislature passed Chapter 514, § 1101 reading as follows: Sec. 1101. The education legacy trust account is created in the state treasury. Money in the account may be spent only after appropriation. Expenditures from the account may be used only for deposit into the student achievement fund and for expanding access to higher education through funding for new enrollments and financial aid, and other educational improvement efforts.

⁴ This state has a history with the estate or so-called "death tax." In 1980, the voters acting through the initiative process, abolished estate taxes, save for the off-setting credit permitted under federal law. Designating education as the sole beneficiary of the new estate tax, provided a lofty and noble reason to once again subject citizens to an estate tax. It is highly unlikely that a tax measure of such public import would have been enacted without extensive scrutiny and discussion had it been presented as a way to add tax revenues to the general fund.

During the 2007-2009 fiscal biennium, monies in the account may also be transferred into the State General Fund.

In 2009, the Legislature authorized and directed transfer of \$67 million from the Education legacy trust account to the State General Fund. (CP 192-197.) ⁵

B. Petitioner's Allegations. Petitioner has alleged from the beginning of this litigation that every tax levied shall be in pursuance of law; and every law imposing a tax shall state distinctly the object of the same to which only it shall be applied. These are simple constitutional principles based on Article VII, § 5 of our Washington State Constitution. This constitutional provision was clearly violated by the \$67 million transfer of estate tax revenue to the State general fund.

C. **Decisions Below**. Petitioner taxpayer, on behalf of the Estate and similarly situated taxpayers, sought a declaratory judgment challenging the constitutionality of budget and appropriations legislation which moved

⁵ The amendment to RCW 83.100.230 allowing transfer of tax revenues to the general fund was not part of the budget bill known as House Bill 2687 as of January 19, 2008. (CP 175-177.) The amendment was added and read for the first time on February 22, 2008. (CP 179-185.) The Laws of 2008 were enacted during the regular session of the Legislature which adjourned March 13, 2008. (CP 188.) The Laws of 2008, Ch. 329 is entitled "Operating Budget – Supplemental Appropriations. (CP 190.) On June 9, 2009, pursuant to the "Operating Budget" Laws of 2009, Ch. 564, Sec. 1702, the Treasurer transferred \$67,000,000 from the Education legacy trust account to the general fund. (CP 64-66.)

\$67 million from the education legacy trust account to the State general fund. Petitioner contends the legislation and transfer violated Article VII, § 5 of the Washington State Constitution by diverting estate tax funds from the stated object of the tax. Estate tax revenues were to be dedicated to educational funding through the education legacy trust account. Further, petitioners contend the actions of the legislature were an unconstitutional violation of Article II, § 19 of the Washington State Constitution by attempting to temporarily change the object of the estate tax through budget and appropriations legislation.

On cross motions for summary judgment, the trial court dismissed petitioner's cause of action. The court issued a letter opinion dated October 2, 2013. (CP 305-312.) The Final Order on Motions for Summary Judgment and Plaintiffs' Motion for Reconsideration entered November 8, 2013. (CP 313-317.)

Addressing Article II, § 19 of the Washington Constitution, the trial court observed that inclusion of a provision temporarily changing the object of the estate tax "deep within an appropriations bill would appear to be a budgetary tactic rooted in fiscal desperation, rather than sound legislative policy making." (CP 311.) Nevertheless, the trial court gave substantial

deference to the Legislature and concluded the action of the Legislature satisfied Article II, § 19.

The Court of Appeals Decision held for the first time in any case in Washington that Article VII, § 5 restricts the Legislature's power to impose a tax, not the Legislature's plenary power to spend. Thus, the Court of Appeals held that Article VII, § 5 does not apply. In effect, the Decision finds this constitutional provision inapplicable to any legislative decision involving expenditure of tax revenues despite the stated object of the tax.

The Court of Appeals Decision also found Article II, § 19 of the Washington Constitution inapplicable. It found the amendments to RCW 83.100.230 in budget and appropriations legislation did not violate the subject in title rule or the single subject rule.

The Decision holds that the amendment to former RCW 83.100.230 was not a substantive change in the law in violation of the single subject rule. Contrary to the trial court's analysis, the Court of Appeals Decision finds no substantive change to RCW 83.100.230 by an amendment which redirected estate tax revenue from the original object of the tax.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. RAP 13.4(b) controls acceptance of review by the Supreme Court. The case involves a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington. RAP 13.4(b)(3). Specifically, the Decision announces a previously unknown interpretation of Article VII, § 5 of the Washington State Constitution. The opinion holds that this constitutional provision "restricts the Legislature's power to impose a tax, not the Legislature's plenary power to spend." (Decision at p. 5.) No prior Washington case has so held. (RAP 13.4(b)(1).) This is a unique constitutional interpretation which places no limitation on the Legislature's power to spend tax receipts allocated to a certain fund or purpose.

In holding that Article VII, § 5 of the Washington Constitution applies only to legislation establishing taxes, and does not apply to legislation authorizing legislative spending, this decision is of general public interest or importance in interpreting the meaning of Article VII, § 5. In part, this constitutional provision requires every law imposing a tax to "state distinctly the object of the same to which only it shall be applied." (Emphasis added.)

The Court of Appeals Decision, for the first time in any Washington case, disregards the "to which only it shall be applied" directive of this Constitutional provision. In light of the critical need for sufficient educational funding and the clear educational funding "object" of the Washington estate tax, the substantial public interest of this case cannot be overstated.

In ruling that Article VII, § 5 does not restrict the Legislature's plenary power to transfer money, the Court of Appeals Decision has eliminated the Constitutional requirement that a tax imposed by the Legislature shall "only" be applied to the distinctly stated object of the tax. ⁶

The Decision at p. 6 states that Article VII, § 5 is limited to legislation establishing taxes and not to legislation authorizing spending.

Article VII, § 5 covers first the imposition of a tax by creation of the legislation and the requirement that its object be distinctly stated, but goes on to discuss the *application* of the tax to its object. The application of the tax

⁶ The Constitutional clause that the Decision ignores "the object of the same to which only it shall be applied," is the only clause in our Washington State Constitution that declares unconstitutional the diversion of tax revenue collected that is not within the stated object of the legislation. A careful analysis of all 32 of the articles of our state Constitution reveals that only Article VII, § 5 touches such an illegal diversion. Accordingly, if this Decision were to stand, our Washington Constitution no longer has any enforceable provision to remedy a diversion of tax revenue from the object in the bill creating the tax.

is exactly what the sentence in the Decision says it is not – "legislation authorizing legislative spending." (Decision at p. 6.)

By ignoring the final clause of Article VII, § 5, the Decision trivializes a near universal clause in most state constitutions in our country. You can pick any state and quickly locate that state's anti-diversion provision.

It is outrageous that the Court of Appeals determined this significant constitutional issue involving expenditure of \$67 million dedicated to educational funding in an unpublished opinion. Either the Court of Appeals failed to grasp the import of its constitutional analysis or mistakenly determined its analysis was consistent with the Washington Constitution and case law precedent. Either shortcoming compels review.

For example, in South Carolina, Article X, § 5: "No tax, subsidy or charge, shall be established, fixed, laid or levied, under any pretext whatsoever, without the consent of the people or their representatives lawfully assembled. Any tax which shall be levied shall distinctly state the public purpose to which the proceeds of the tax shall be applied." Ohio, Article XII, § 5: "No tax shall be levied, except in pursuance of law; and every law imposing a tax shall state, distinctly, the object of the same, to which only it shall be applied." South Dakota, Article XII, § 8: "... no tax shall be levied except in pursuance of a law, which shall distinctly state the object of the same, to which the tax only shall be applied. .. "North Dakota, Article X, § 3: "No tax shall be levied except in pursuance of law, and every law imposing a tax shall state distinctly the object of the same, to which only it shall be applied." Wyoming, Article XV, § 13 of its Constitution: "No tax shall be levied, except in pursuance of law, and every law imposing a tax shall state distinctly the object of the same, to which only it shall be applied."

B. The Decision erroneously concludes that Article VII, § 5 of the Washington Constitution does not limit the Legislature's plenary power to spend. Article VII, § 5 has been part of our Washington State Constitution since statehood in 1889. Article VII, § 5 is clear and unambiguous. It has been uniformly interpreted by our courts to mean (a) the law must state the object of the tax; and (b) use of the tax for any other purpose than stated in the tax legislation is forbidden.

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