RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Dec 03, 2015, 2:27 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK



NO. 92497-0

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WILLIAM E. WALL, ESTATE OF JAMES H. JACK by and through its Personal Representatives, SHARON A. JACK and LINDA R. LEIBICH,

Appellants,

ν.

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, acting by and through the WASHINGTON STATE LEGISLATURE and JAMES McINTYRE, Treasurer of the State of Washington; BRIAN SONNTAG, Auditor of the State of Washington; and BRAD FLAHERTY, Director of the Department of Revenue, State of Washington,

Respondents.

STATE OF WASHINGTON'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

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

IV. REASONS WHY THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

Because the Estate does not have taxpayer standing, and the issues in this case are stale, the Court has no need to accept review or to reach the constitutional issues the Estate raises. But even if the Court did reach those issues, this Court's established case law forecloses the Estate's constitutional challenges.

A. The Estate's Constitutional Challenges Are Untimely And Moot, And The Estate Lacks Standing.

The Court of Appeals did not address the State's threshold arguments, remarking in a footnote that the State did not cross-appeal. Slip op. at 4 n.6. But the State, having won complete relief at the trial court, had nothing to appeal. And this Court, of course, may affirm on any ground supported by the briefing and the record. *Huff v. Wyman*, slip op. no. 92075-3, at 4 (Nov. 12, 2015). This Court should deny review. But if this Court accepts review, it should address the State's affirmative defenses, which are meritorious and would avoid reaching the constitutional issues raised by the Estate.

1. The Estate's claim was not brought within the applicable two-year statute of limitations.

The fund transfer at the core of this dispute occurred on June 9, 2009. CP at 65. Mr. Wall filed this action on June 8, 2012, one day less than three years after the transfer. The Estate joined the action in October

2012, more than three years after the transfer. Even assuming the Estate's claims relate back to Mr. Wall's initial complaint, he filed that complaint after the applicable two-year statute of limitations.

RCW 4.16.130 is the two-year "catchall" statute of limitations that applies when no other statute specifically covers the type of claim at issue: "An action for relief not hereinbefore provided for, shall be commenced within two years after the cause of action shall have accrued."

This catch-all provision applies here because no other statute of limitations applies. The Estate relied on the three-year limitation period in RCW 4.16.080(2). CP at 112-14. That statute applies to "[a]n action for taking, detaining, or injuring personal property, including an action for the specific recovery thereof, or for any other injury to the person or rights of another not hereinafter enumerated." This limitation period "has generally been applied to torts and tort-like claims." Seattle Prof'l Eng'g Employees Ass'n v. Boeing Co., 139 Wn.2d 824, 837, 991 P.2d 1126 (2000). But RCW 4.16.080(2) does not apply in this case. The Estate's claims do not allege torts or tort-like claims. The Estate did not allege injury to itself or someone else's personal property, but rather sought to correct what it believed to be an improper policy decision in a budget. See CP at 17, 107 (explaining motivations behind amended complaint).

The need to quickly resolve challenges to the Legislature's budget decisions also counsels such a result. Under the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act, lawsuits must be brought within a "reasonable time." *Schreiner Farms, Inc. v. Am. Tower, Inc.*, 173 Wn. App. 154, 159, 293 P.3d 407 (2013). Because of the need for quick and decisive action to correct an alleged budgetary problem, neither Mr. Wall nor the Estate instituted this action within a reasonable time.⁴ And at a minimum, the delay in bringing this action demonstrates that the dispute lacks the public import necessary for this Court to accept review.

2. The issues in this case are moot because no meaningful relief can be provided to the Estate.

It is too late to provide any relief to the Estate, even if such relief were warranted. "A case is moot if a court can no longer provide effective relief." *Orwick v. City of Seattle*, 103 Wn.2d 249, 253, 692 P.2d 793, 796 (1984). The Estate challenges a 2009 budget decision. Of course, the money at issue was spent long ago. CP at 65 (¶ 5). And the statutory language allowing such transfers is expired and is no longer on the books. Laws of 2012, 1st Sp. Sess., ch. 10, § 9.

⁴ A "reasonable time" is generally determined by analogy to the time allowed for a similar action as prescribed by statute or rule. *Schreiner Farms*, 173 Wn. App. at 159. Because RCW 4.16.130 is the statute of limitations that applies, this action was not instituted within a reasonable time as it was beyond this analogous statute of limitations.

The Estate's requested remedy is illusory. If this Court were to order \$67 million transferred from the general fund to the education legacy trust account, the Legislature would need to appropriate money for such a transfer in a future budget. But the Legislature could then merely appropriate \$67 million less than it otherwise would have from the general fund. Both accounts are used to fund education. In fact, the Legislature spends over \$13 billion per year from the general fund on education. CP at 68 (¶ 6). The State's obligation to properly fund education remains the same either way.

The Estate primarily seeks a ruling that the Legislature violated the Constitution. See CP at 18 (¶¶ 1-2). But this Court generally does not issue advisory opinions. To-Ro Trade Shows v. Collins, 144 Wn.2d 403, 416, 27 P.3d 1149 (2001). This is also not a dispute where no relief would have been possible. Indeed, nearly a year passed between the time the Legislature authorized a transfer and when the transfer was made, but the Estate did not timely attempt to stop the transfer. Laws of 2008, ch. 329, § 924 (legislation authorizing transfers effective April 1, 2008); CP at 65 (¶ 3) (Treasurer made transfer on June 9, 2009, pursuant to 2009 legislation specifically directing transfer). The case is moot.

3. The Estate does not have taxpayer standing.

The Estate seeks to stretch the doctrine of taxpayer standing beyond its acceptable limits. Original plaintiff William Wall asserted an interest as a general taxpayer. *See* CP at 53. In the Amended Complaint, the Estate asserted claims as a plaintiff that had paid the estate tax. CP at 14-15. The trial court dismissed Wall for lack of standing, but did not dismiss the Estate. The court concluded that by paying the estate tax, the Estate created a sufficient "heightened connection . . . nexus" sufficient for standing. CP at 162-63. The trial court erred.

The apparent premise behind taxpayer standing is that a taxpayer might have had his or her taxes used in an unconstitutional manner. See, e.g., Dick Enters., Inc. v. Metro. King Cnty., 83 Wn. App. 566, 573, 922 P.2d 184 (1996) (for taxpayer standing, "plaintiff must show that it pays the type of taxes funding the project [being challenged]"). But that hypothetical link cannot possibly exist in this case. The Estate paid estate taxes in 2011, long after the June 2009 funds transfer. CP at 54. Therefore, none of the taxes paid by the Estate could possibly have been subject to this transfer. This is just as true of the Estate as it was of Mr.

Wall, who was dismissed for lack of standing. The trial court correctly dismissed Mr. Wall, and it should have dismissed the Estate as well.⁵

B. The Estate's Constitutional Arguments Are Without Merit.

The 2008 Legislature did not violate a 2005 statute by changing the law. See Washington State Farm Bureau Fed'n v. Gregoire, 162 Wn.2d 284, 290, 174 P.3d 1142 (2007) ("No legislature can enact a statute that prevents a future legislature from exercising its lawmaking power.") Further, the undisputed evidence demonstrates that the State collected the funds transferred in 2009 after the 2008 statute became law. Therefore, defendants complied with the law that was in effect at the time of the transfer. The Estate's article VII, section 5 challenge has no merit.

The Legislature's actions were also consistent with article II, section 19, as interpreted by this Court in *Retired Pub. Employees Council of Wash. v. Charles*, 148 Wn.2d 602, 62 P.3d 470 (2003). Lastly, the Estate raises its article II, section 37 argument for the first time in this Court, and in any event, the argument is without merit. All of these arguments are controlled by established case law, and do not merit further review.

⁵ An example illustrates the point. Suppose Spokane County is alleged to have used property tax revenues illegally. Would a Seattle resident, who owns no property in Spokane and has never paid property taxes there, have standing to challenge the use of funds? The answer obviously should be no. That no proper plaintiff existed in this case undercuts any argument that this is a matter of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

1. Even if Article VII, section 5 applies, the Legislature complied with it.

Article VII, section 5 provides: "No tax shall be levied except in pursuance of law; and every law imposing a tax shall state distinctly the object of the same to which only it shall be applied." The court below concluded that this provision did not apply to the 2008 legislation authorizing a funds transfer because it was not a law imposing a tax. The State argued that article VII, section 5 did not apply based upon different reasoning. Resps.' Br. at 25-33.

This Court need not resolve whether article VII, section 5 applies because recent case law demonstrates that the Legislature's actions were well within constitutional bounds. This Court has already held that one Legislature may amend what an earlier Legislature has done. Farm Bureau, 162 Wn.2d at 290. There, plaintiffs alleged that tax increases and expenditures in 2005 legislation were inconsistent with an earlier statute, the Taxpayer Protection Act, passed by initiative. Id. This Court rejected the challenge, explaining, "That which a prior legislature has enacted, the current legislature can amend or repeal." Id. at 290.

The Court of Appeals applied the same principle to article VII, section 5. *Wash. State Hosp. Ass'n v. State*, 175 Wn. App. 642, 647-49, 309 P.3d 534 (2013). There, the Court held that amending an earlier

statute to allow approximately \$200 million from a hospital safety net assessment fund to be expended instead of making state general fund payments to hospitals, did not violate article VII, section 5. *Id.* Following *Farm Bureau*, the Court of Appeals concluded that the 2011 Legislature acted within its plenary authority to change the law. *Id.* at 649.

Farm Bureau, Wash. State Hosp. Ass'n, and the Court of Appeals' opinion in this case are consistent, with all three of the opinions having concluded that a later Legislature's change to an earlier law is permissible under constitutional principles. Therefore RAP 13.4(b)(1), providing for review of inconsistent decisions, is not satisfied.

A further fact precludes a decision on this constitutional issue. The question that the Estate seeks to appeal—whether the Legislature can impose a tax when the law states one purpose for those tax revenues and then change the law and use previously collected revenues for another purpose—is not presented in this case. At the initial hearing on the parties' cross-motions for summary judgment, the trial court delayed a final ruling on the merits to allow the Estate to obtain discovery on this timing issue. The resulting undisputed evidence in the record demonstrates that the State collected all of the money transferred *after* the change in the law. CP at 283-85. Surely it is not the case that once the Legislature imposes a tax, it can never change the way the tax revenues

are used or the accounts into which those funds may be transferred. The facts here do not support review by this Court.

2. The transfer was consistent with the three-part test under Article II, section 19.

The Estate's primary challenge to the funds transfer under article II, section 19 is that the appropriations bill authorizing the transfer improperly contained substantive law in a budget. This Court has already given ample guidance regarding the three-factor test for analyzing this issue in the context of appropriations bills, and additional guidance to the courts below is unnecessary. *Compare*, *e.g.*, *Charles*, 148 Wn.2d at 629-31 (appropriations bill lowering employer retirement contributions for public employees did not violate three-factor test), *with Washington State Legislature v. State*, 139 Wn.2d 129, 144-48, 985 P.2d 353 (1999) (requirement that low-income families pay monthly copayment in connection with child care assistance, which defined eligibility for public assistance and was of a continuing nature, constituted impermissible substantive law in a budget). The petition thus fails to present a question meriting review. RAP 13.4(b).

The Court of Appeals correctly applied this Court's test in this case. This Court has described the test as follows:

We decline to adopt a categorical definition of "substantive law," but where the policy set forth in the budget has been

treated in a separate substantive bill, its duration extends beyond the two-year time period of the budget, or the policy defines rights or eligibility for services, such factors may certainly indicate substantive law is present.

Wash. State Legislature, 139 Wn.2d at 147.

The Court of Appeals correctly reasoned that "not a single criteria articulated by our Supreme Court applies to the amendments to former RCW 83.100.230." Slip op. at 10. The Court of Appeals explained that the first factor was not met because the subject matter had not been treated in separate substantive legislation in the past. Slip op. at 10. It also explained that the second factor was not met because both amendments to the statute were limited to two years. Slip op. at 10-11. And third, the challenged statutory amendments, unlike those disallowed in other cases, defined no rights or eligibility for services. Slip op. at 11 (citing *Wash. State Legislature*, 139 Wn.2d at 147; *Flanders v. Morris*, 88 Wn.2d 183, 186, 558 P.2d 769 (1977)). Because the Court of Appeals correctly applied the article II, section 19 analysis articulated and explained by this Court, review of this issue is unnecessary. The issue is not a significant question of law or of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).

There is also no merit to the Estate's "subject in title" challenge.

The title of the 2008 appropriations bill being challenged is:

AN ACT Relating to fiscal matters; amending RCW ... 83.100.230, ...; reenacting and amending RCW 70.105D.070; amending 2007 c 522 [listing numerous

sections]; adding new sections to 2007 c 522 (uncodified); repealing 2007 c 522 s 713 (uncodified); making appropriations; and declaring an emergency.

Laws of 2008, ch. 329, § 924 (emphasis added). That title was broad enough to include the change in the use of funds in the education legacy trust account because it plainly and specifically cites to RCW 83.100.230. And the greatest latitude is afforded the Legislature in titling appropriations bills "because their purpose is to allocate state funds to such a great number of state needs." *Charles*, 148 Wn.2d at 628. The Estate's challenge is without merit, and does not warrant review.

3. The Legislature complied with Article II, section 37, by stating the full text of RCW 83.100.230 in the 2008 legislation.

For the first time in its Petition for Review, the Estate asserts that the Legislature violated article II, section 37. Because this challenge was not raised below, this Court should decline to consider it. RAP 2.5(a). Regardless, the challenge fails to present a significant constitutional question. RAP 13.4(b)(3). Article II, section 37 provides that "No act shall ever be revised or amended by mere reference to its title, but the act revised or the section amended shall be set forth at full length."

The 2008 legislation included the full text of the amended statute:

The education legacy trust account is created in the state treasury. Money in the account may be spent only after appropriation. Expenditures from the account may be used only for deposit into the student achievement fund and for

expanding access to higher education through funding for new enrollments and financial aid, and other educational improvement efforts. During the 2007-2009 fiscal biennium, moneys in the account may also be transferred into the state general fund.

Laws of 2008, ch. 329, § 924. The bill set forth the entire text of the statute as amended. This is exactly what article II, section 37 requires.

V. CONCLUSION

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